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SIXTY DAY NOTICE OF INTENT TO SUE
1. Sixty-day notice of intent to sue by the Blue Eco Legal Council, a membership organization for environmental advocacy, and Steven B. Pollack, Attorney, as executive director.

1.1 Blue Eco Legal Council
Steven B. Pollack, Executive Director
P.O. Box 1370
Highland Park, IL 60035
847-436-9566
1.2 The United States Coast Guard began training exercises on the Great Lakes in January of 2006.  These comments outline the laws being violated by the United States Coast Guard by conducting live fire training exercises on the Great Lakes and disposing of lead training bullets therein.  These comments also, by implication, outline the laws not being enforced by the United States Environmental Protection Agency.  

These comments therefore serve as notice of violations for which the Blue Eco Legal Council intends to sue on behalf of its members generally, and those who live in the Lake Michigan Watershed specifically.  These suits arise under various environmental laws that waive United States sovereign immunity.

1.3 Blue Eco Legal Council intends to sue the U.S. Coast Guard for violations of federal and state environmental laws resulting from its past and future live fire training exercises on the Great Lakes.
1.4 Blue Eco Legal Council intends to sue the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency for failing to enforce federal environmental laws prohibiting the U.S. Coast Guard from discharging large quantities of lead into the Great Lakes from its live fire training exercises.
2. ARBITRARY DECISIONS IN THE RULEMAKING PROCESS
2.1 The lack of specific training protocol information in the proposed rule denies the public the ability to submit precise comments.
2.1.1 The delegated rulemaking authority granted by congress, and the APA, requires the agency proposing a rule to put the public on notice of what is being proposed.  
2.1.2 This rule, as proposed, only seems to concern itself with the impact of limiting public access at certain areas being used for live fire training.  The true impact of this rule is to seek an exception to several federal environmental laws against polluting the Great Lakes with lead, a Persistent Bio-accumulative Toxin (PBT).  
2.1.3 The result of this misleading characterization of the nature of the proposed rule is that no specific protocols have been adopted as to the type of rounds to be used, the number of rounds to be used per training session, the number of locations per training session, and the number of training sessions per year.  The environmental supplement asserts estimates that it used for assumptions but this is not a protocol by the Coast Guard that would limit its training in any way.   Has the Coast Guard restricted its ability to test larger caliber weapons (containing Tetryl, TNT, or RDX) or other types of munitions such as depleted uranium shells?  It appears that these types of decision could come later because the rule itself only addresses the carving out of live fire training areas.
2.1.4 Without specific protocols the public cannot comment on the program with any precision because the Coast Guard has not limited its actions to anything specific.  
2.1.5 Without the ability to comment on the proposed rule with precision the public comments have to be unnecessarily vague.  The public has not, therefore, been given proper notice and its comments do not represent public participation through notice and comment rulemaking.  This rulemaking violates the APA.
2.2 The failure to create an administrative record denies to the public information necessary to make informed comments.
2.2.1 An administrative record needs to be created that includes all documents upon which the Coast Guard based its decision. 
2.2.2 The Coast Guard did not create an administrative record for this proposed rule.  

2.2.3 While the Coast Guard did supplement the proposed rule with the CH2M environmental study, The Coast Guard withheld a second environmental study from the public upon which it based its decision.  Specifically, the Coast Guard is quoted in news stories that there were two environmental studies supporting its decision.  The Coast Guard refused to supplement the proposed rule with this second study and has failed to create an administrative record that makes this study available to the public.

2.2.4 By stating in news stories that two environmental studies support the decision to deposit lead bullets in the Great Lakes but allowing the public to view only one of the studies, some of the public might have been mislead into not making public comments.
2.2.5 By withholding the second study, the public does not have all the information necessary to make informed comments
2.3 The lack of any training protocols in the proposed rule allows the Coast Guard to take later actions that were not subject to public comments but will benefit from the presumption of having been vetted through the public participation process
2.4 The lack of any training protocols in the proposed rule allows the Coast Guard to respond to comments with a moving target where any revisions to the scope of the rule will create new subjects to which the public would be entitled to participate through notice and comment.  
3 ARBITRARY DECISIONS IN THE PROPOSED RULE
3.1 Lack of authority - Submerged Lands Act – 43 U.S.C. §§ 1301- 1311
3.1.1 (a) Confirmation and establishment of title and ownership of lands and resources; management, administration, leasing, development, and use

        It is determined and declared to be in the public interest that 

(1) title to and ownership of the lands beneath navigable waters within the boundaries of the respective States, and the natural resources within such lands and waters, and 
(2) the right and power to manage, administer, lease, develop, and use the said lands and natural resources all in accordance with applicable State law be, and they are, subject to the provisions hereof, recognized, confirmed, established, and vested in and assigned to the respective States or the persons who were on June 5, 1950, entitled thereto under the law of the respective States in which the land is located, and the respective grantees, lessees, or successors in interest thereof; 

43 U.S.C. § 1311(a)(1),(2).
3.1.2 The proposed rule fails to state under what authority the U.S. Coast Guard claims the right to deposit lead and other waste into the Great Lakes which are held in public trust by the various Great Lakes states.
3.1.3 While the Coast Guard has an implied right to conduct operations on public waters as necessary for the executive branch to uphold the laws of Congress, that right does not include depositing hazardous materials on state held public lands.  

3.1.4 The lake bottom is public land held in trust by the various states.  This is not the case of the federal government operating at a federal facility.  The Coast Guard has no statutory right, implied or express, to use the lake bed as its hazardous waste repository.
3.1.5 Using the lake bottom of the Great Lakes as a receptacle for hazardous lead waste from this live fire training program violates the Rivers and Harbors Act, CWA, RCRA, CERCLA, and international treaties.   See Comment 4.0-et seq.
3.1.6 The Coast Guard must identify what statutory authority or executive order could allow the federal government to contaminate state held lands.  The Blue Eco Legal Council asserts there is no such authority.
3.2 The study by CH2M has limitations that ignore old Buoys and call into question the validity of its conclusions on the environmental effects of training
3.2.1 The CH2M study failed to account for the buoys to be used as targets in these training exercises.  The plan is to shoot at old buoys for target practice.  The machine gun caliber training rounds will possibly pierce the buoys and sink them.  Old buoys contain fuels that were used for power.
  The environmental risk from sinking several hundred of these old buoys was not part of the CH2M study.
3.3 The study by CH2M limits the analysis of cumulative risks to five years which calls into question the validity of its conclusions on the environmental effects of training 
3.3.1 Limiting the scope to of the study to five years even though the live fire training program will presumably go on in perpetuity kept the quantified risk below action triggering levels.   The study expresses a risk quotient formula where if dividing the exposure concentration by the effect level equals, or is greater than, 1.00 then there is a potential for risk.  If the number is less than 1, the “risks are very unlikely”.  The risk from lead to plants, invertebrates, and fish over this five year period is .96.    

The study then states that “[b]ased on the results of this evaluation, proposed training will result in no elevated risks for the Great Lakes…and further investigation is not recommended.”  The Coast Guard certainly got its money’s worth from this study because the arbitrary five year limitation imposed by CH2M brought the risk quotient in just under the trigger point for further study.  The 1.00 trigger point is seemingly treated as a tipping point because the study concludes that .96 is no risk and 1.00 is a risk needing further study.  

Bioaccumulation of toxins in fish and humans is well documented so in the sixth year the lead level in the tissues of fish would presumably accumulate to over a 1.00 risk level.  Another cumulative effect is the quantity of lead available for fish to accumulate in year 6 and beyond as further training exercises add to the area covered by lead and the density of the lead fields.  

CH2M repeats the mantra that the amounts of lead assumed are “realistic worst-case”, implying that these are somehow greater than will actually occur.  The implication is that the risks are overstated.  This implication is not warranted, especially considering the Coast Guard did not commit itself to any protocols which might limit its actions.  It is also overstated because there is no indication that the five year limit of the study is relevant to the actual plans of the Coast Guard.
3.4 The study by CH2M uses limiting assumptions that do not account for existing contamination in the Great Lakes and calls into question the validity of its conclusions on the environmental effects of training.
3.4.1 Limiting the scope to the lead in the training exercises without regard to existing background levels is unrealistic.  Ignoring current contamination levels downplays the likelihood that the cumulative effect of the new lead and existing lead will increase the risk quotient to above action levels for further study.  The study was conducted under simplistic assumptions whereas the real live training program has risk implications that include existing levels of lead in the water column.
3.5 Externalization of costs by depositing lead waste into Great Lakes without investing in alternatives
3.5.1 The Coast Guard could invest in a floating training platform designed to catch the stray bullets. The Coast Guard might claim that this is too expensive but the cost of not investing in an environmentally friendly live fire target training platform is the externalization of a Persistent Bio-accumulative Toxin into 95% of this country’s fresh surface water supply.  The training exercises therefore internalize the savings by not developing alternate methods while externalizing pollution to one of the most important natural resources within the United States. 
3.5.2 Non-lead bullets could be used.  Again, the higher cost, if any, is a savings for the Coast Guard under this rule but an externalization of the higher costs on the Great Lakes environment.
3.5.3 Such a cost/benefit decision, given the environmental importance of the Great Lakes, is arbitrary and capricious.
4 VIOLATION OF SEVERAL LAWS

4.1 Public Nuisance – The dumping of uncontained and uncontrolled lead on the lake bed constitutes a public nuisance on state titled lands.
4.2 NEPA – National Environmental Policy Act - 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321-4347.
4.2.1 The training exercises represent a federal project and triggers requirements to conduct an environmental assessment. To determine if the project is significantly affecting the environment.
4.2.2 The Coast Guard must then propose reasonable alternatives and analyze their impact.  The alternatives should include creating a training platform designed to catch the bullets or to use non-lead bullets.
4.2.3 The NEPA review is subject to mandatory consultation with other agencies such as U.S. EPA and U.S. Fish and Wildlife.
4.2.4 The NEPA review must occur prior to any decision to move forward with this project.

4.2.5 The Coast Guard is in violation of the requirement to conduct an Environmental Impact Statement under NEPA and to allow for notice and comment on such a review.
4.3 Indiana Endangered Species Act

4.3.1 The dumping of lead leads to bioaccumulation in Lake Michigan fish.  River otter, an Indiana state endangered species, eats fish from Lake Michigan. 
“The North American river otter once inhabited aquatic ecosystems throughout Indiana. In the mid to late 1800s, unregulated taking and loss of habitat resulted in widespread population declines. By 1942, it is believed that breeding populations of river otters had disappeared from the state. The Indiana DNR upgraded the otter's status to endangered in 1994 in preparation for this project.”

4.3.2 The live fire exercises, by disposing of lead in Lake Michigan and adding to bioaccumulation in the food chain, negatively affects the ability of the state of Indiana to protect its endangered species.
4.4 TRI – Toxic Release Inventory - 42 U.S.C. 11001 et seq., 40 C.F.R. Part 372.
4.4.1 Defines lead as a Persistent Bio-accumulative Toxin (PBT) one of the highest threats to natural resources and human health.

4.4.2 Requires reporting of lead release over 100 pounds.

4.4.3 It does not appear the Coast Guard has reported releases of lead from prior training exercises and is therefore in violation of TRI.

4.5 Rivers and Harbors Act – 33 U.S.C. § 403-407.

4.5.1 The Rivers and Harbors Act prohibits the release of refuse into the navigable waters of the United States which might obstruct navigation. See 33 U.S.C. § 407.
4.5.2 The United States Supreme Court read into this act a prohibition on pollution.  See United States v. Republic Steel, 362 U.S. 482 (1960), United States v. Standard Oil Co., 384 U.S. 224 (1966).

4.5.3 The live fire exercises, insofar as they allow unpermitted discharges into the Great Lakes, violates the Rivers and Harbors Act. 
4.6 CWA – Clean Water Act (Federal Water Pollution Prevention and Control Act) – 33 U.S.C. §§ 1252-1387.
4.6.1 The purpose of the CWA is to “restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the nation’s waters.” 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a).
4.6.2 The “national goal” is to eliminate the discharge of pollutants. 33 U.S.C. § 1251(a)(1), (2).
4.6.3 The national policy is to prohibit the discharge of toxic pollutants in toxic amounts. 33 U.S.C. § 1251(1)(a), (3).
4.6.4 The CWA defines pollution as “the man-made or man-induced alteration of the chemical, physical, biological … integrity of water”.   33 U.S.C. § 1362(19).
4.6.5 The live fire training is a point source under the CWA because it is a “discernible, confined, and discrete conveyance” which includes a “vessel or other floating craft, from which pollutants are or may be discharged.”  33 U.S.C. § 1362(14).
4.6.6 The live fire training exercises therefore violate the CWA as a point source for bullets which are toxic pollutants.

4.6.7 The Coast Guard does not have a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit under the CWA to discharge lead into the waters of the United States.  

4.6.8 No NPDES permit may be issued without notice to the public and is subject to hearings.  33 U.S.C. § 1342(a)(1).
4.6.9 Blue Eco Legal Council requests an adjudicatory hearing as required by the United States Supreme Court. Costle v. Pacific Legal Foundation, 445 U.S. 198 (1980).
4.6.10 The CWA requires the use of best available technology economically achievable for the applicable point source. 33 U.S.C. § 1317(a).  Green bullets without lead represent this standard.
4.7 Safe Drinking Water Act – 42 U.S.C. §§ 300f-300j-26
4.7.1 The Great Lakes are part of the public water system and while the statutory reach of this act appears to be ground water, U.S. EPA interprets its statutory authority to regulation of contaminants in any drinking water, including surface water. 50 Fed. Reg. 46,941-46,943 (Nov. 13, 1985).
4.7.2 Adding lead in any amount to the water column degrade the public water system and the live fire exercises are therefore a violation of the Safe Drinking Water Act.

4.8 RCRA – Resource Conservation and Recovery Act – 42 U.S.C. § § 6901-6992k.
4.8.1 One goal of RCRA is to prevent future unregulated hazardous waste disposal sites.
4.8.2 Lead is a listed hazardous material bringing it under RCRA regulation.  See 40 C.F.R. Part 261, Subpart D.
4.8.3 The spent lead bullets are discarded material and abandoned as part of the live fire training and are therefore waste under RCRA. See 40 C.F.R.  § 261.2, 50 Fed. Reg. 614(Jan. 4, 1985), § 261.2(a)(2), §261.2(b).
4.8.4 The hazardous waste bullets are disposed of under RCRA by being discharged into the waters of the Great Lakes. See 42 U.S.C. 6903(3), 40 C.F.R. § 260.10, 40 C.F.R. § 264.
4.8.5 The live fire training exercises therefore violate RCRA as illegal discharges of hazardous waste into the waters of the United States.
4.8.6 Violations under the Clean Water Act are also violations under RCRA. See 40 C.F.R. § 257.3-3.
4.8.7 Uncontrolled discharge of lead onto the lake beds will create open dumps that cannot meet sanitary landfill requirements and is therefore prohibited.  See 42 U.S.C. § § 6903(14), 6945(a).
4.8.8 Lake Michigan is a critical habitat for the North American River Otter, an Indiana endangered species.  Discharging uncontrolled lead into its environment violates RCRA. See 40 C.F.R. § 257.3-2.
4.9 CERCLA – Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act – 42 U.S.C. §§9601-9675
4.9.1 Congress enacted CERCLA to address “the serious environmental and health risks posed by industrial pollution.” United States v. Bestfoods, 524 U.S. 51, 54 (1998). To carry out this goal, the statute grants “broad power to command government agencies and private parties to clean up hazardous waste sites." Id.

4.9.2 Although many of CERCLA’s provisions are directed at prioritizing, and apportioning financial liability for, cleanups on private property, CERCLA Section 120 provides that  “[e]ach department, agency, and instrumentality of the United States . . . shall be subject to, and comply with, [CERCLA] in the same manner and to the same extent, both procedurally and substantively, as any nongovernmental entity . . . . “ 42 U.S.C. § 9620(a)(1). The statute further provides that “[n]o department, agency, or instrumentality of the United States may adopt or utilize any [ ] guidelines, rules, regulations, or criteria which are inconsistent with the guidelines, rules, regulations and criteria established by the Administrator,” – i.e., “the Administrator of the United States Environmental Protection Agency.” Id. §§ 9620(a)(2), 9601(2).

4.9.3 Upon petition, the US EPA is required under the National Contingency Plan to conduct a Preliminary Assessment into the release, or threatened release, of any hazardous substance that threatens human health or the environment, giving special consideration to releases affecting drinking water. See 42 U.S.C. § 9605
4.9.4 A Preliminary Assessment can be triggered by citizen petition after each Toxic Reporting Inventory report of 100 pounds of lead, each training exercise adding to existing lead dumps, or each training session creating new dumps.  A Site Investigation will then be triggered and will remain valid until the next training session when more lead will be deposited.
4.9.5 CERCLA requires permanent containment or reduction of exposure for hazardous wastes that threaten human health and the environment.  In evaluating the alternative methods of site closure, the agency must evaluate nine criteria, including such factors as the protection of human health and the environment; applicable or relevant and appropriate requirements under federal and state law; effectiveness and permanence; feasibility and cost; and community and state acceptance. Id. § 300.430(e)(9). Once the agency has developed a proposed remediation plan, it must again solicit public input, before making its Record of Decision, in which the agency must explain the basis for the chosen alternative. Id. § 300.430(f)(1)-(5).  

4.9.6 The Coast Guard live fire plan will create new hazardous waste dump sites after each training exercise that will need to be closed under CERCLA.
4.9.7 A prohibition on creating new uncontrolled CERLCA sites is implied by the RCRA statute.  RCRA provides for a cradle to grave system for disposal of toxic waste and 30-year financial assurances for containment once the site is closed.  CERCLA was not created to be a backstop against RCRA scofflaws.  The Coast Guard, in ignoring RCRA prohibitions and creating uncontrolled fields of lead in the Great Lakes that will need to be assessed, is acting arbitrarily and capriciously with respect to RCRA and CERCLA.
4.10 Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement of 1978 

4.10.1 Article II – Purpose

Consistent with the provisions of this Agreement, it is the policy of the Parties that: 
a. The discharge of toxic substances in toxic amounts be prohibited and the discharge of any or all persistent toxic substances be virtually eliminated; 
4.10.2 Article VI – Programs And Other Measures


1. The Parties…shall continue to develop and implement programs and other measures to fulfill the purpose of this Agreement and to meet the General and Specific Objectives…. The programs and measures shall include the following:


      (b) Pollution From Industrial Sources
ii. Requirements for the substantial elimination of discharges into the Great Lakes System of persistent toxic substances;
4.10.3 Lead in bullets is a persistent toxic substance

4.10.4 The discharge of lead by the U.S. Coast Guard into the Great Lakes therefore violates the Great Lakes Water Quality Agreement of 1978.
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� Amy K. Marshall, FREQUENTLY CLOSE TO THE POINT OF PERIL: A HISTORY OF BUOYS AND TENDERS IN U.S. COASTAL WATERS 1789 – 1939, Thesis Paper (April 1997)
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